Mitigation of Phosphorus Leaching from Agricultural Soils

Improved Fertilization and Soil Structure

Annika Svanbäck

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Soil and Environment Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2014 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2014:36

Cover: Photo by Pär Aronsson

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576- 8020-4 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576- 8021-1 © 2014 Annika Svanbäck, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2014

Mitigation of Phosphorus Leaching from Agricultural Soils. Improved Fertilization and Soil Structure

Abstract

Phosphorus (P) is an essential element in crop production, but P losses from agricultural soils are a major contributor to surface water eutrophication. This thesis examined the effects of chemical soil properties and soil structure, as governed by agricultural management practices, on P leaching from agricultural soils and how this leaching can be reduced. An initial investigation on the effect of plant-available P concentration in the soil (P-AL) on topsoil P leaching from five soils clearly showed that topsoil P leaching depends not only on P status, but also on other soil characteristics. In three of these soils, increased P leaching after manure application was further amplified by high P-AL, while manure application did not affect topsoil P leaching in the other two soils.

In a study assessing different management practices on a clay soil and the possible effect on P losses via tile drains, great spatial variation in P leaching was observed in the field, even though P-AL and discharge volume were relatively uniform across the field. Incorporation of quicklime (CaO) significantly reduced P leaching losses, primarily of particulate P, which was the dominant P form in drainage water. The other management options evaluated (conventional ploughing/shallow tillage; no P application/balanced P application; broadcasting/band spreading of fertilizer P) had no significant effects on P leaching. However, some effects of these management strategies could have been overshadowed by the large spatial variation in the data.

Stopping P application and removing soil P with harvested crops (phytomining) showed potential to reduce excessive P levels in soils. After 7-9 years of no P application to the four soils studied, topsoil P-AL was lowered but most soils still had excessive levels. Only one soil, a clay soil with the lowest P-AL value in the study, showed a significant downward trend in leaching of dissolved reactive P.

New knowledge outcomes were that: (i) the relationship between P-AL and topsoil P leaching clearly differs between soils, especially after manure application; (ii) incorporation of quicklime is a promising option for reducing P leaching from clay soils; and (iii) high P-AL values and P leaching may be reduced after phytomining, but this mitigation strategy takes a very long time.

Keywords: phosphorus leaching, soil test P, mitigation options, topsoil lysimeters, structure liming, animal manure, phytomining, soil structure

Author's address: Annika Svanbäck, SLU, Department of Soil and Environment, P.O. Box 7014, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Annika.Svanback@slu.se

Contents

List of Publications 7						
Abbr	eviations	9				
1	Background	11				
1.1	Forms of P in the soil	14				
1.2	Forms of P in leachate	16				
1.3	Phosphorus losses to water	16				
2	Aim	19				
3	Materials and methods	21				
3.1	Topsoil columns with simulated rainfall to estimate the risk of P leaching	21				
3.2	Tile-drained plots to test different mitigation options in the field	22				
3.3	Reduce high soil P levels by crop P uptake in outdoor lysimeters	23				
4	Factors affecting P leaching	25				
4.1	Soil test P and P leaching	25				
4.2	Manure application	28				
4.3	Transport pathways	29				
	4.3.1 Tile drains	31				
5	Mitigation options	33				
5.1	Balanced P application	34				
5.2	Management practices on a cracking clay soil	35				
	5.2.1 Broadcasting, band placement or omission of P fertilizer	36				
	5.2.2 Conventional ploughing or shallow tillage	37				
	5.2.3 Incorporation of structure lime	39				
5.3	Phytomining to reduce soil test P	41				
6	Leachate studies – evaluation of methods	45				
6.1	Lysimeters	45				
6.2	Experimental field with separately drained plots	47				
7	Summary and conclusions	49				
7.1	Topsoil P leaching (Paper I)	49				
7.2	Management practices on a clay soil (Paper II)	49				

7.3	Phytomining (Paper III)	50
7.4	New knowledge outcomes	50
7.5	Management recommendations	51
Refer	ences	53
Acknowledgements		

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Svanbäck A., B. Ulén, A. Etana., L. Bergström, P.J.A. Kleinman & L. Mattsson (2013). Influence of soil phosphorus and manure on phosphorus leaching in Swedish topsoils. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 96, 133-147.
- II Svanbäck A., B. Ulén & A. Etana (2014). Mitigation of phosphorus leaching losses via subsurface drains from a cracking marine clay soil. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 184, 124-134.
- III Svanbäck A., B. Ulén, L. Bergström & P.J.A. Kleinman (2014). Long-term trends in phosphorus leaching and changes in soil phosphorus with 'phytomining'. *Submitted manuscript*.

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Annika Svanbäck to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the study together with the second, third and fourth author. Performed the experimental work, data analyses, data interpretation and writing, with assistance from all co-authors.
- II Planned the study together with the second author. Performed the data analyses, data interpretation and writing together with the second author.
- III Planned the study together with the second author. Performed the experimental work, data analyses, data interpretation and writing, with assistance from all co-authors.

Abbreviations

- P-AL Ammonium lactate-extractable phosphorus, the common soil test for P in Swedish agriculture
- DRP Dissolved reactive phosphorus in water

1 Background

Phosphorus (P) is an essential element for all plants and animals, forming part of every cell. Phosphorus is a macronutrient and in agricultural crop production P needs to be applied in order to maintain production. However, if too much P is added to the soil, the risk of losses to rivers and lakes increases (Pautler & Sims, 2000; Sibbesen & Sharpley, 1997). Phosphorus is strongly bound in the soil and only a small proportion is lost to rivers and lakes, but this relatively small amount of P can be sufficient to cause detrimental effects on water quality (such as algal blooms and oxygen deficiency) and ecosystem changes in aquatic systems (Sharpley & Rekolainen, 1997). Phosphorus losses from agricultural soils are a concern in Northern European countries due to the accelerated eutrophication of the Baltic Sea and many inland surface waters. At least 45% of the total inputs of P to the Baltic Sea originate from diffuse anthropogenic sources, with agriculture estimated to contribute 60-80% of the total diffuse load (HELCOM, 2012). In the past there has been more research and progress in finding countermeasures to reduce the load of nitrogen (N) from agriculture to water. However, it is important to reduce both P and N levels in a balanced way (SEPA, 2006). If the P level in the water environment is high compared with the N level, N-fixing cyanobacteria can be favoured and this can lead to problems with toxic cyanobacterial blooms.

Besides eutrophication, another strong reason for not applying surplus P and for using available P sources efficiently is that phosphate rock, from which P fertilizers are manufactured, is a finite, non-renewable resource. The long-term availability of P for crop production will affect the possibility to feed the growing world population.

The availability of different sources of P for agricultural production and the economic possibilities to buy P fertilizers varies throughout the world. Between 1960 and 1980, large amounts of mineral fertilizer were used to increase soil fertility and crop yields in Sweden, as well as in many other

developed countries (IFADATA, 2014). Manure was often applied at the same time, resulting in a rapid increase in the P content of many agricultural soils. This was especially true for southern Sweden, where animal density was higher and more P-demanding crops (*e.g.* potato and sugar beet) were grown. This built up a pool of soil P which is partly of benefit for today's farmers, since they do not have to apply as much fertilizer as they would otherwise need to. However, if soil P levels are maintained much above the agronomic optimum soil P value, P is used very inefficiently, since P application does not increase yield further (Syers *et al.*, 2008) and the risk of P losses to surface waters is high (Pautler & Sims, 2000; Heckrath *et al.*, 1995).

At present, the average P balance of Swedish agricultural soils is close to equilibrium (*i.e.* inputs = outputs) (SCB, 2013) (Figure 1). However, there is a considerable range in P balance across the country. For example, 5% of fields in Sweden received more than 60 kg P ha⁻¹ in 2009 (Djodjic & Kyllmar, 2011) and manure is often added to soils already rich in P, especially on animal farms in southern Sweden. In the past, animal density was more uniform throughout the country and animal manure was more important for maintaining soil P and crop yields on the fields. However, the widespread use of mineral fertilizers allowed traditional crop production to be decoupled from livestock production. In Sweden, pig and poultry production are concentrated more in the south, while cereal production is concentrated more in central Sweden. The farm P balance increases with increasing animal density (SCB, 2013), with import of



Figure 1. Some P pools and flows in Swedish agricultural soils (SCB, 2013; Blombäck *et al.*, 2011; Eriksson *et al.*, 2010). Average values are shown, although variation between regions and individual fields is large.

feed on animal farms contributing to the positive P balance. Soil test P levels are generally higher in the south of Sweden (Figure 2). High animal density often leads to high application rates of manure (*i.e.* P in excess of plant requirements) and, repeated over many years, the soil P content increases well above the agronomic optimum level (Kleinman *et al.*, 2011). Areas with high animal density and lack of sufficient land area for effective utilization of the manure produced are found in many places of the world, *e.g.* in the USA (Kellogg *et al.*, 2000), the Netherlands (Reijneveld *et al.*, 2010) and other parts of Europe (Csathó & Radimszky, 2012).

There is great variation in P losses from agricultural soils over time, both within and between years (Ulén *et al.*, 2007). Phosphorus losses and erosion are usually high during events with high water flow, such as intensive rainfall (Edwards & Owens, 1991) and snowmelt (Su *et al.*, 2011; Ulén, 2003).



Figure 2. Maps of Sweden showing a) clay content and b) P-AL in agricultural topsoils (Eriksson *et al.*, 2010).

The majority of the annual P losses from a watershed can occur from a small proportion of the land area, and during only a few severe storm events (Sharpley *et al.* (1999).

Most research and mitigation efforts to combat P losses from agricultural soils have focused on surface runoff and erosion. However, during recent decades, the importance of P leaching and losses via agricultural drainage systems has received increasing attention. Some early studies of P losses in drainage water include Brink and Gustafson (1970) and Brink *et al.* (1978) in Sweden, Uhlen (1989) in Norway, Turtola and Paajanen (1995) in Finland, Bottcher *et al.* (1981) in the USA and Bolton *et al.* (1970) and Culley *et al.* (1983) in Canada.

Phosphorus leaching from agricultural land is of particular concern in the Baltic region, where leaching together with export via tile drains most likely represents a major transport pathway for P (*e.g.* Turtola & Jaakkola, 1995). A large proportion of the agricultural soils in Sweden and Finland are subsurfacedrained and located in relatively flat landscapes (SCB, 2014; Yli-Halla & Mokma, 2002). Sources of P losses to drainage water range from P that has built up in the soil itself, generally due to historical application of fertilizers and manure (Beauchemin *et al.*, 1998), to P that is lost directly from recent amendments to soils with high soil P status (Kleinman *et al.*, 2009; Hart *et al.*, 2004; Sileika *et al.*, 2002; Preedy *et al.*, 2001). Phosphorus concentrations in water draining from soil vary widely, from almost undetectable levels to several milligrams per litre of drainage water from arable and grassland soils (Sims *et al.*, 1998; Brookes *et al.*, 1997).

1.1 Forms of P in the soil

The native P content in soils depends on the nature of the parent material and the degree of weathering. Except in cases of extreme build-up, the level of P in soil and in the soil solution is usually low compared with the levels of other nutrients such as N and potassium (K). During soil development, apatite P is weathered and gradually transformed into other inorganic or organic P forms. Secondary P minerals formed in acidic soils mainly comprise aluminium (Al) and iron (Fe) phosphates, while different types of secondary calcium (Ca) phosphates dominate in neutral to alkaline soils (Smeck, 1985). Adsorption of P occurs on the surface of soil particles (Figure 3), and this P is part of a labile inorganic pool. Phosphorus can be sorbed to positively charged edges of clay and, in calcareous soils, to CaCO₃. In acid soils, sorption by Al and Fe oxides and hydroxides is very common (Hemwall, 1957). Inorganic P is taken up by plants and microorganisms and is thereby transformed to different forms of

organic P. Continuous turnover of P through mineralization and immobilization follows (Figure 3). Mineralization of organic P is influenced by many of the same factors as the general decomposition of soil organic matter, such as temperature, moisture and tillage.

Most of the P compounds formed are not available for plant uptake because they are highly insoluble in the soil solution. When soluble P is added, as fertilizer or manure, much is rapidly converted to forms not readily available for plant uptake and bound to particles in the soil. Since not all P may be taken up by the crop in the year of application, some farmers tended to apply more P than was removed with the crop (according to advice in the past). Repeated over several years, this leads to a higher degree of soil P saturation and decreased sorption capacity (Mozaffari & Sims, 1994), which may lead to enhanced P losses to water (Ulén, 2006).

Soils contain inorganic and organic P compounds, and the relative proportions of these P forms vary widely. Organic P often comprises between 20 and 65% of total P, although soils with a high organic matter content can contain up to 90% organic P (Harrison, 1987). Organic P can be hydrolyzed though enzymatic reactions and taken up by plants or microorganisms (Quiquampoix & Mousain, 2005).



Figure 3. Conceptual diagram of the soil-plant P system, indicating major pathways for P transfer between different pools (adapted from Jakobsen *et al.*, 2005).

Plant roots absorb P dissolved in the soil solution, mainly as phosphate ions, but some soluble organic P compounds are also taken up. Mycorrhiza, a symbiotic association between a fungus and plant roots, may play an important role in the capture of nutrients in the soil (Smith & Read, 1997). The chemical form of P present in the soil solution is determined by the solution pH. In strongly acid soils $H_2PO_4^-$ dominates, while alkaline soils are characterized by $HPO_4^{2^-}$. Both forms are readily available for plant uptake (Brady & Weil, 2002). Since dissolved P in the soil solution constitutes a very small part of total P in soils, the soil solution needs to be replenished with P from the labile pool several times during the growing season due to crop uptake (Frossard *et al.*, 2000).

1.2 Forms of P in leachate

The difference between dissolved P and particulate P in water is defined analytically by the pore diameter used in filtration before analysis of dissolved P. Filters with pore size 0.2 μ m or 0.45 μ m have been used in different studies. Dissolved reactive P (DRP) is usually measured as molybdate-reactive P, and total dissolved P is measured after digestion of the filtered sample (ISO, 2003). Dissolved organic P is often referred to as the difference between total dissolved P and DRP. However, clay particles are defined as < 2 μ m and some fine clay particles and other fine colloids can pass through the filter and be analyzed as 'dissolved' P (Ulén, 2004). There is no simple routine analysis for measuring organic P forms in leachate, but nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy has been used in a few studies (Fuentes *et al.*, 2012; Bourke *et al.*, 2009; Toor *et al.*, 2003). Particulate P is often calculated as the difference between total P and DRP.

1.3 Phosphorus losses to water

Phosphorus losses or P transfer from agricultural soils to receiving waters can be seen as a two-step process: mobilization, *i.e.* the transfer of a P-containing compound from the immobile phase (bulk soil) to the mobile phase (water) by desorption or detachment; followed by transport with the carrying water phase (Hens & Schoumans, 2002). In order to reduce the transport of P from arable land to waters, one can either control the sources or the transport itself (or both). In many countries the authorities have decided to control P fertilization, *i.e.* the main source of P to the soil. One approach is to fertilize with the same amount of P as will be removed with the following crop and according to soil P status. Efforts have also been made to reduce the causes of erosion and to prevent eroding material from reaching water by establishing buffer zones along waterways (reducing transport) (Stutter *et al.*, 2012). Improved soil structure and aggregate stability, through *e.g.* microbial activity, has been discussed as protecting against erosive water forces (Tebrügge & Düring, 1999). However, erosion is sometimes seen as a source of P and sometimes as a transport process. There are also other measures, *e.g.* sedimentation ponds and wetlands (Braskerud, 2001), aimed at capturing any P transported away from sources. The focus in this thesis was the systematic study of some potential field mitigation options aimed at reducing P leaching.

2 Aim

The main aim of this thesis was to gain a better understanding of how soil chemical and structural conditions, as governed by agricultural management practices, influence P leaching from agricultural soils to surface waters and how this leaching can be reduced. Specific objectives were to:

- Examine the role of soil test P and applied P sources on topsoil P leaching from main types of agricultural soils in Sweden, in particular: (i) relationships between ammonium lactate-soluble P (P-AL) and P leaching; (ii) changes in P leaching from soils with varying P-AL status following manure application; and (iii) effects on P leaching of two cropping systems representing farms with and without animals (Paper I)
- Quantify leaching losses of P from a tile-drained cracking clay soil in relation to topsoil management practices and investigate possible spatial variation in P leaching in the experimental field. The starting hypotheses were that: (i) P leaching losses are reduced for several years after structure liming (*i.e.* liming with CaO to improve soil structure and thereby reduce P leaching); (ii) shallow tillage does not reduce P leaching in comparison with conventional ploughing; and (iii) application of moderate amounts of mineral P fertilizer close to balance with crop needs does not increase P leaching compared with no fertilization. As an extension of hypothesis (iii), band spreading was compared with broadcasting of P fertilizer (Paper II)
- Evaluate the effects of P mining on a range of Swedish agricultural soils that had previously received high applications of manure and/or mineral fertilizer and therefore had elevated soil P status. In particular, to determine whether ceasing P application and phytomining P through crop removal reduced the concentration of plant-available P in soil (P-AL) over time, thereby significantly reducing P leaching losses (Paper III).

Three different methods were used to investigate these matters: topsoil columns to investigate the risk of P leaching (Paper I), tile-drained plots to test different mitigation options in the field (Paper II) and outdoor lysimeters to reduce high soil P levels and P leaching through crop removal of P (Paper III).

3 Materials and methods

Several methods were used in this thesis to study the effect of different soil factors and management options on P leaching, namely topsoil columns with simulated rainfall, long outdoor lysimeters (topsoil and subsoil), and an experimental field with separately drained plots.

3.1 Topsoil columns with simulated rainfall to estimate the risk of P leaching

Paper I used undisturbed topsoil columns (20 cm long and 20 cm in diameter), which were collected from five fields included in the long-term fertility trials in Sweden (Carlgren & Mattsson, 2001). The location of the fields (Bjertorp, Ekebo, Fjärdingslöv, Högåsa and Klostergården) is shown in Figure 4 and selected soil properties are shown in Table 1. The experiments were initiated between 1957 and 1969 and the experimental setup is similar at each site, with varying P fertilizer applications in different plots, which over time have resulted in plots with four P-AL levels at each site. There are also two cropping systems at each site, one which is intended to represent a farm without animals with mainly cereals in the crop rotation and no manure application. The other cropping system is intended to represent a farm with animals, and the crop rotation includes forage crops and moderate manure applications every fourth or sixth year.

Intact topsoil columns were collected from the four P levels in both the manured and unmanured cropping system at the five sites. In each field plot, four soil columns were collected, resulting in 160 columns in total (Paper I).

The leaching experiment was carried out in an indoor rainfall simulator. The rainfall intensity was 10 mm h^{-1} and the simulated rainfall was applied in three events lasting 2.5 h each, at 2-day intervals (76 mm in total). After each

Soil	Texture	Clay (%)	рН	PSC _{max} (mmol kg ⁻¹)
Bjertorp ^a	Silty clay loam	30	6.6	8.8
Bornsjön	Clay	60	6.4	n.d.
Ekebo ^a	Loam	17	6.5	10.2
Fjärdingslöv ^a	Sandy loam	19	7.5	6.0
Högåsa ^a	Loamy sand	7	5.8	10.0
Klostergården ^a	Silty clay loam	37	6.9	6.9
Kungsängen ^a	Clay	59	6.9	11.9
Mjällby ^b	Loamy sand	9	6.2	n.d.

Table 1. Selected chemical and physical properties of soils used in Papers I-III

^aBörling *et al.* (2001) topsoil samples (0-20 cm) from the unmanured cropping system (lowest P level). ^bUlén (1999) topsoil samples (0-20 cm)

PSC_{max}: maximum P sorption capacity

2.5 h simulated rainfall event, the leachate was collected and analyzed for total P and DRP. First, three simulated rainfall events (76 mm) were performed to measure leaching from only the soil. Then dairy cow manure was applied to the soil columns and another three simulated rainfall events (76 mm) were performed. The results were statistically evaluated using the Mixed model in the SAS software (Littell *et al.*, 2006).

3.2 Tile-drained plots to test different mitigation options in the field

An experimental field with 28 separately drained plots (20 m x 24 m) in a flat valley was used in Paper II. Selected soil properties for this site (Bornsjön, see Figure 4) are shown in Table 1. The P-AL concentration was moderate/low and the soil had a generally high ability to sorb P based on chemical soil properties. The P-AL concentration and the concentration of Fe and Al in ammonium lactate extract were similar for all plots. A previous study in a field close by reported high P leaching losses, with a large proportion of particulate P in leachate, and demonstrated a need for flow-proportional sampling at this site (Ulén & Persson, 1999).

Seven treatments (Table 2), with four replicates per treatment, were randomly assigned to 28 plots (Paper II). The treatments included three soil management practices: conventional autumn ploughing, incorporation of quicklime (CaO) in the first year (referred to as 'structure liming' in this text) and shallow autumn tillage. Band placement of fertilizer P was compared with broadcasting in the shallow-tilled plots, and no P application was compared with band placement of P in the conventionally ploughed plots. An unfertilized



Figure 4. Map of Sweden showing the experimental sites and locations where soil columns were collected.

fallow and a crop rotation including winter wheat (compared with only spring sown crops in the other plots) were also included in the treatments. All P fertilization doses were just slightly above the level expected to be removed by the following crop.

Drainage water from each plot was sampled flow proportionally and analyzed for total P, DRP, total nitrogen and nitrate nitrogen on a weekly basis. Annual losses were calculated and the results were statistically evaluated using the Mixed model in the SAS software (Littell *et al.*, 2006).

3.3 Reduce high soil P levels by crop P uptake in outdoor lysimeters

Paper III evaluated soil P changes and leachate P trends in undisturbed soil columns that were collected from fields where P had accumulated in the soil after long-term addition of fertilizers and/or manure. Results from two previous studies (Djodjic *et al.*, 2004; Ulén, 1999) were combined with additional measurements. The soils came from four sites: Fjärdingslöv, Klostergården, Kungsängen and Mjällby (see Figure 4). Selected soil properties are shown in Table 1. Soil columns were collected in 1991 (Mjällby) and 1999

(Fjärdingslöv, Klostergården and Kungsängen), and phytomining was then studied in the soil columns at a lysimeter station in Uppsala. The column sampling method employs a coring apparatus that allows a polyvinylchloride (PVC) cylinder to be installed around an intact soil column, without sidewall compaction. The gravity-drained soil columns were about 1.05 m long and the diameter was 0.295 m. After collection and preparation, the lysimeters were placed in belowground pipes in an outdoor lysimeter station described by Bergström and Johansson (1991).

Leachate volumes were measured and total P and DRP were analyzed in the leachate. Crops were grown in the soil columns and harvested over 7-16 years. Soil samples were collected and analyzed for P-AL at the start and end of the study (Paper III).

Seasonal Mann-Kendall tests (Libiseller & Grimvall, 2002; Kendall, 1975; Mann, 1945) were used to detect possible trends over time in concentration of total P and DRP, load of total P and DRP and leachate volume.

4 Factors affecting P leaching

Understanding how different factors affect P leaching processes was an important component of the work described in this thesis. An extensive body of work has documented P leaching through soils, emphasizing the soil-specific nature of P leaching potential and the varying influence of management variables on P leaching processes (*e.g.* Liu *et al.*, 2012; Kleinman *et al.*, 2009; Djodjic *et al.*, 2004; Sims *et al.*, 1998). In sections 4.1 to 4.3, important factors in Papers I-III relating to soil test P, P fertilizer and manure application, and transport pathways are discussed and results from Papers I and II are positioned in this context.

4.1 Soil test P and P leaching

Soil testing for P was primarily developed to assess the level of plant-available P in soils. The soil test P value is used (sometimes together with data on other chemical or physical properties of the soil and information about the crop) to evaluate whether, and how much, P needs to be applied to achieve good crop yields. During recent decades, soil P testing has also been used as an indicator of the risk of diffuse P losses to surface waters (e.g. Sims et al., 2000; Sibbesen & Sharpley, 1997). Soil test P is extracted and analyzed in different ways, depending on the properties of the soil and on general regional practices. A common method in the Nordic and Eastern European countries is to extract plant-available P with an acid ammonium lactate solution (P-AL) (Egnér et al., 1960). Other common methods include: double lactate (Riehm, 1943), which is similar to the P-AL method but the prediction of P availability in calcareous soils may be better; Olsen-P (Olsen et al., 1954), which was developed in North America to be used on calcareous soils; Bray and Kurtz P-1 (Bray & Kurtz, 1945), which uses an acidic extractant (pH 2.6); Mehlich 1 (Mehlich, 1953; Nelson et al., 1953), which is best suited for soils with acidic reaction;

and Mehlich 3 (Mehlich, 1984), which works well for a wide range of soils, both acidic and basic in reaction. Eriksson *et al.* (2013) compared some of these soil test P methods for a range of Baltic and Swedish soils and found that the amount of P extracted declined in the order: P-AL > Mehlich 3 > double lactate > Olsen P. Compared with the P-AL method, the other methods extracted 71% (Mehlich 3), 61% (double lactate) and 20% (Olsen P) of P, as means of absolute values. Eriksson *et al.* (2013) also concluded that for calcareous alkaline soils, the acid extracts overestimate the amount of soil P.

Research to date has yielded mixed findings on the relationship between soil test P and P leaching potential. A study by Heckrath et al. (1995), summarizing findings from shallow tile drains established in the Broadbalk (UK) cropping system trials, identified a threshold in Olsen-P of surface soils above which the potential for leaching significantly increased. This 'change point' analysis performed by Heckrath et al. (1995) sparked an array of studies investigating critical thresholds of soil P above which P solubility and/or mobility increase significantly (Figure 5). Significant change points in soil test P above which the P concentration in leachate in column leaching experiments increases have been reported, and the change point has also been related to other soil extractants, such as CaCl₂ (e.g. Maguire & Sims, 2002; McDowell & Sharpley, 2001). In Sweden, Börling et al. (2004) reported exponential relationships between 0.01 M CaCl₂-extractable P (used as an indicator of potentially leachable soil P) and P-AL. However, the increases differed markedly between soils, with soils with high P sorption capacity releasing less P than soils with low P sorption capacity at a particular P-AL value (Börling et al., 2004). In another Swedish study, Ulén et al. (2011) found P-AL to be a reliable P risk index for soil profiles with a high clay content in a catchment with overall balanced soil P level. However, in an intact soil column leaching study in which a range of Swedish soils was assessed, no relationship between topsoil P-AL and leachate P was detected (Djodjic et al., 2004).

In Paper I, clear relationships were found between P-AL and P leaching from topsoil columns taken from five different agricultural soils (Figure 6), although the relationship between P-AL and P leachate concentration varied between these soils. The P-AL values in the soil columns ranged from 15 to 236 mg kg⁻¹, thus covering poor to excessive P-AL values according to Swedish guidelines (Albertsson, 2013). The four different P-AL levels in each soil were the result of long-term P applications at different rates in different





Figure 5. Conceptual model of the effects of soil test P on crop yield and P losses. Adapted from Wolf *et al.* (2000).

field plots. The results in Paper I confirm the controlling role of P-AL on P leaching from topsoil, in agreement with Börling *et al.* (2004), who observed clear relationships between P-AL and CaCl₂-extractable P (a surrogate for leachate P) for topsoils (0-20 cm) from the same long-term field experiments. However, both studies also show that the relationship between P-AL and potential P leaching varies between soils. The results obtained in Paper I for topsoil columns contrast with those reported for deeper soil cores (1 m) taken from the Swedish long-term field experiments, for which no relationships were observed between P-AL and P leaching (Djodjic *et al.*, 2004). This suggests that P-AL is an important explanatory variable for P leaching from topsoil and may indicate a risk of leaching, but that subsoil properties and water transport pathways can have a modifying effect on P leaching in deeper soil layers.

The concentrations in leachate following simulated rainfall events in Paper I were relatively low for soil columns from field experimental plots with long-term fertilization rates equivalent to P removal with harvested products. This stresses the importance of long-term P balance in limiting P leaching losses. The field experimental plots with long-term P balance used in Paper I had P-AL values at the agronomic optimum or lower.

When soil test P increases in a soil, the degree of P sorption saturation usually also increases (Börling, 2003), as more binding sites are occupied with P. The relationship between soil test P and the degree of P sorption saturation may be different between soils with different maximum P binding capacity.

4.2 Manure application

Application of manure to soils can temporarily elevate P concentrations in leachate from soils, primarily as a result of transfer of manure P to infiltrating water. Timing of manure applications is important (Aronsson et al., 2014) and 'rapid incidental transfers' (Preedy et al., 2001) of manure P to leachate are well documented (Kleinman et al., 2009; 2005; Geohring et al., 2001), with the greatest contributions of manure to leachate P typically occurring in the first leaching events after application (Withers et al., 2003). However, little is known about the interactive effects of manure application and antecedent soil properties and soil P status. It was clear that the five soils studied in Paper I behaved differently regarding P leaching after recent manure application around current maximum permitted rates set by Swedish animal density regulations. In some soils, there was an increase in DRP concentration after dairy cow manure application and this increase was significantly correlated with soil test P. In other soils, there was no corresponding increase in P leaching after recent manure application. Identification of soils that are especially susceptible to P leaching when manure is applied is important in efforts to reduce P loads to water bodies. This identification cannot be made based on only a few soil properties, such as texture and P-AL, but is dependent on the interaction of many soil properties.

Animal manures contain both inorganic and organic forms of P, although the majority (60-90%) of P in animal manures is commonly in inorganic form (Mullins *et al.*, 2005). Sorption and retention in the soil vary for different forms of organic P (Turner, 2005). A large proportion of water-soluble P in organic amendments has been shown to increase P losses in runoff (Withers *et al.*, 2001) and leaching (Sharpley & Moyer, 2000). Increasing contact between the soil and applied P by incorporation or injection of manure can reduce P losses in surface runoff (Uusi-Kämppä & Heinonen-Tanski, 2008; Withers *et al.*, 2001) and leaching (Glaesner *et al.*, 2011), especially in fine-textured soils.

In Paper I, no consistent differences in topsoil P leaching were found between soil columns from long-term cropping systems intended to represent farms with or without animals. It should be noted that manure applications in the cropping system representing an animal farm were moderate and infrequent. A major issue with manure is often that livestock density is high in certain areas, which results in an excess of manure (Sims *et al.*, 2005). When excessive rates of manure are applied during several years, soil P builds up and the risk of P loss increases. Although disposal of manure is a problem in some regions with high animal densities, manure should be used efficiently, as it is a valuable resource of P and other nutrients and organic matter.

4.3 Transport pathways

Transport pathways through the soil were not measured directly in Papers I-III but are likely to have had an overall impact on the results, since transport pathway is always an important factor to consider as regards P leaching. Transport pathways, preferential flow in particular, were especially relevant in Paper II. There was large spatial variability in P leaching between plots, with a greater coefficient of variation even before the experiment started in total P leaching (64%) than in soil P status (20%) and drainage (26%), indicating the importance of local-scale transport pattern for P leaching in this clay soil. This spatial variation in P leaching was expressed as a gradient in P leaching over the field towards the middle of the flat valley in which it was situated. The results in Paper II cannot explain the gradient in P leaching, but one hypothesis is that there were more continuous macropores and permanent cracks towards the middle of the valley. It has also been shown that surface-applied herbicides leach in a similar pattern to particulate P at this site, suggesting that the topsoil is the major source of particulate P (Ulén et al., 2014). Together with the large spatial variation in P leaching, this implies that preferential flow is an important transport pathway in this clay soil.

Depending on site-specific factors, such as sorption capacity, soil structure, infiltration and rain intensity, different transport pathways dominate P losses. These different pathways include: surface runoff, flow through the soil matrix and different forms of preferential flow. Once the dominant transport pathway from a field has been identified, the most appropriate countermeasure can be applied. Preferential macropore flow and transport is common in structured clay soils (Koestel & Jorda, 2014; Jarvis, 2007). Although varying extent and form of preferential flow appears to be the rule rather than the exception (Flury *et al.*, 1994), unstructured sandy soils often have a high proportion of matrix flow.

Downward movement of P in the soil profile was recognized early to occur in deep sandy soils (Bryan, 1933). In Sweden, sandy soil with low P sorption capacity in the soil profile is a soil type with a high risk of losing large amounts of P, especially if the soil has received high application rates of manure or P fertilizer for many years (Ulén & Jakobsson, 2005). Leaching water can be in good contact with the subsoil in sandy soils (Bergström & Shirmohammadi, 1999), and then the P sorption capacity of the whole profile controls the P concentration in the leachate (Andersson *et al.*, 2013; Djodjic *et al.*, 1999).

Macropores are large pores with equivalent diameter of 0.3-0.5 mm or more, which comprise structural cracks, packing voids between denser aggregates, faunal activity and root channels (Jarvis, 2007). Water with dissolved reactive P and P bound to particles can move rapidly through the soil profile in these large pores and sorption surfaces may be bypassed (de Jonge et al., 2004; Akhtar et al., 2003). However, if P is located in smaller pores in the soil and water transport in large pores bypasses this P, macropore flow may reduce P leaching. The soil surface and the plough layer have been suggested as the main source of P in drainage water (Djodjic *et al.*, 1999; Øygarden *et al.*, 1997). Tillage can break macropores but it does not always reduce P losses (Djodjic et al., 2002; Ulén & Persson, 1999). Soils with a high clay content easily form macropores (cracks) through wetting/drving and freezing/thawing. These soils are usually drained and this can lead to fast transport of water, dissolved compounds and particles, first through macropores and then direct transport to a ditch or stream via the drainage system (Øygarden et al., 1997). Considerable drainage losses of P have been recorded from this kind of soil (Turtola, 1999; Ulén & Persson, 1999). This type of preferential flow pathway has been shown to be most important following storm events after a dry period (Simard et al., 2000).

Preferential flow occurs to varying degrees in different soils (Flury *et al.*, 1994), and may also vary within fields. In some soils there may be a relatively uniform network of rather large pores, which facilitates rapid transport of water, solutes and particles. In other soils, there may be fewer but very large pores, which may be unevenly distributed over the field. These pores can potentially have a major impact on total losses from that field, although the spatial variation within the field may be large. As mentioned above, variation in the degree of preferential flow is one possible explanation for the large spatial variation in P leaching in the field observed in Paper II. Continuity of macropores is an important factor for P losses, and if some of the large pores are continuous and lead to the tile drains or to the backfill above the tile drains where rapid transport can occur, the risk of rapid transport from the topsoil to the drainage system increases (Stamm *et al.*, 2002; Øygarden *et al.*, 1997).

Fine-textured soils with moderate P levels are commonly not considered high-risk soils for P leaching, mainly because they usually have a high P sorption capacity. However, the results in Paper II clearly contradict this perception, as leachate losses above 1 kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ were observed in tile drainage water from plots in the experimental field on clay soil with moderate soil P status. Particulate P was on average 83% of total P in tile drainage water (Paper II), and preferential transport has been indicated at the site by simultaneous flows of P and pesticides with varying sorption characteristics (Ulén *et al.*, 2014).

4.3.1 Tile drains

Agricultural drainage systems are primarily installed to provide trafficable conditions so that management operations (such as seedbed preparation, planting and harvesting) can be performed in a timely manner, and to protect plants from excessively wet conditions. In arid and semi-arid areas, agricultural drainage systems are also used to control salinity (Smedema *et al.*, 2000). Drainage may be provided by surface modifications (such as a network of ditches and canals, land smoothing *etc.*) and by subsurface drainage systems. Surface drainage alone does not remove excess water from the soil profile as effectively as subsurface drainage. Buried drainage pipes are favoured in many locations, especially in areas where the growing season is short and trafficable conditions for timely planting and harvesting are critical (Skaggs *et al.*, 1994).

A large proportion of the agricultural soils in Sweden are located on relatively flat landscape, where artificial drainage is required for crop production (Wesström, 2002). It is estimated that 49% of Swedish agricultural land is systematically tile-drained (SCB, 2014). As leaching serves to connect P at the soil surface with subsurface drains, understanding the factors controlling P leaching through agricultural soils is key in assessing practices and strategies aimed at mitigating diffuse P loads from Swedish agriculture (Ulén *et al.*, 2007). Vertical leaching of P by macropore flow through the soil (Jarvis, 2007) may result in P reaching tile drains, and export via tile drains is a primary pathway of P transfer from agricultural fields to streams (Ulén *et al.*, 2007; Ulén, 1995). Heavy clay soils are common in eastern Sweden (Figure 2) and this soil type is usually tile-drained and often forms cracks. The soil in Paper II is one example of these clay soils in eastern Sweden.

One perception about particulate P losses to tile drainage systems is that particles move more or less slowly through pores in the soil in an episodic manner when water transport increases. Some particles accumulate around the tile drain and are washed into the drain and transported to *e.g.* an outlet ditch during a high flow event. At the experimental field described in Paper II, particulate transport appeared to be fast. Herbicides applied at the soil surface were detected in the first few rainfall/drainage events after application and these herbicides leached in a similar pattern to particulate P (Ulén *et al.*, 2014), suggesting that the topsoil was the major source of leached P and that particles could move quickly from the soil surface to the tile drains.

5 Mitigation options

In order to develop methods to reduce P leaching, it is critical to understand how different factors affect P leaching. Mitigation options can be divided into different types: preventative measures (such as binding P in manure with Al), measures in the field (*e.g.* fertilization, tillage) and measures beyond the field edge (*e.g.* sedimentation ponds, filters). This thesis focuses on field mitigation options aimed at reducing P leaching losses, more specifically balanced P application (Paper I), some management practices on a clay soil (Paper II) and phytomining to reduce soil test P (Paper III). Different aspects of these specific mitigation options are discussed below.

In a more general context, many mitigation options aimed at reducing P losses focus on surface runoff and erosion. Management practices aimed at reducing the speed of water flow during surface runoff events include contour farming and cover crops to protect the soil surface from erosion (Sims & Kleinman, 2005). Omitting tillage (no-till) or applying reduced tillage and leaving crop residues on the field can also reduce erosion and P losses through improved soil structure and increased infiltration, although losses of dissolved P may increase (Ulén et al., 2010; Sharpley & Smith, 1994). When it comes to minimizing P losses, it is often better to carry out tillage during spring than autumn, but if the soil water content is high there is a risk of this damaging the soil structure, reducing the infiltration capacity and increasing surface runoff (Ulén et al., 2010). Buffer zones along waterways can work as vegetation filters and reduce the transport of particles (Hoffmann et al., 2009). The effect of buffer zones is strongly associated with their width (Uusi-Kämppä et al., 2000). Efforts to reduce erosion can sometimes have undesired effects, e.g. crop residues and vegetation in buffer zones can be a source of P, especially during freezing and thawing events (Hoffmann et al., 2009; Bechmann et al., 2005; Miller et al., 1994). Other efforts are aimed at managing the source of P. for example choosing an appropriate fertilizer and manure application method

and calibrating the application equipment. In order to apply effective mitigation options, it is important to consider site-specific factors, identify sources and transport pathways of P and target these.

5.1 Balanced P application

Phosphorus fertilizers have been liberally used in the past to raise soil fertility and maximize crop production. However, economic and environmental incentives introduced since then have made farmers more aware of the need to use P efficiently. Several studies have found that the risk of P leaching increases with higher soil test P values (Maguire & Sims, 2002; McDowell & Sharpley, 2001; Heckrath *et al.*, 1995), which is in line with results in Paper I. In Paper I, strong relationships were found between P-AL and P leaching, although P leaching from different soils at a specific P-AL value varied (Figure 6). Avoiding a build-up of soil P by applying P according to soil test P and crop uptake is a common recommendation for limiting P losses (Albertsson, 2013; Kronvang *et al.*, 2009; Withers *et al.*, 2005). This is supported by the results in Paper I, since there was a significant increase in P leaching with increasing P-AL in all five soils, and also since topsoil columns from plots with long term P-balance had relatively low P leaching losses.

Values of P-AL are employed as input data in a model used for calculating losses of nutrients from Swedish agricultural soils (Johnsson *et al.*, 2008). These results are then used in Sweden's reports of nutrient loads to HELCOM and in the evaluation of the environmental goal "zero eutrophication" set by the Swedish parliament. The P-AL level is also often considered a risk indicator of P leaching by the farm advisory services in Sweden. This illustrates the importance of the results in Paper I, as no previous study has shown clear relationships between P-AL and P leaching for a number of different soils.

Timing of P application and application techniques are important factors for reducing incidental losses shortly after application (Withers *et al.*, 2003). However, Paper I showed that in soils where topsoil P leaching increased after manure application, the increase in P leaching was even larger at high P-AL (Figure 7). A possible explanation for this is higher degree of P sorption saturation at higher P-AL, and hence lower capacity to retain P (Börling, 2003). Although clear differences were found between soils, the results in Paper I show the importance of applying manure and fertilizer P according to soil test P and plant needs in order to avoid a build-up of soil P and to reduce the risk of P leaching.



Figure 6. Leaching of dissolved reactive P (DRP) at varying P-AL values from topsoil (0-20 cm) lysimeters of the five soils used in Paper I. Results are for a cropping system including ley and moderate manure applications in the field, before manure application to soil columns in the laboratory. The statistical analysis was made with natural logarithm-transformed values.



Figure 7. Increase in leaching of dissolved reactive P (DRP) at varying P-AL from topsoil (0-20 cm) lysimeters of the five soils used in Paper I. Results are for a cropping system including ley and moderate manure applications in the field, after manure application to soil columns in the laboratory.

5.2 Management practices on a cracking clay soil

In Paper II, some management options to reduce P leaching were tested on a flat experimental field with separately drained plots (Bornsjön) (Table 2). The soil has a high clay content (60%), moderate-low P-AL and low P saturation. Significant differences in P losses were found between some treatments, but losses of total P and particulate P from the plots were explained to a great extent by the spatial variation in the experimental field. There was a significant gradient in P leaching in the field during the experiment, and a greater coefficient of variation in total P leaching (64%) than in soil P status (20%)

and drainage (26%) in the spring before the experiment started. Seasonal patterns of P losses differed clearly between years, with peaks in transport occurring during snowmelt, in autumn and after intensive rainfall during summer. The unpredictability of occurrence of peaks in P leaching makes it more difficult to target these events and to develop effective mitigation options.

Bypass or preferential flow via soil macropores represents one of the major transport mechanisms of P leaching through well-structured soils (Simard et al., 2000; Jensen et al., 1998; Stamm et al., 1998). As a result, cropping systems or practices that promote the maintenance of macropores (e.g. no-till and perennial forage systems) can be particularly susceptible to P leaching losses, although rapid flow through the soil may decrease surface runoff. Phosphorus leaching was once seen as a phenomenon restricted to coarsetextured soils, but has since been widely documented in finer-textured soils with extensive macropore networks (e.g. van Es et al., 2004; Djodjic et al., 1999). Djodjic et al. (2004) also found that a clay soil with low P saturation still had high leaching losses of P due to fast water transport through macropores, which meant that binding sites for P were bypassed. This confirms that water movement through soil is a very important factor regarding P losses and may override other factors such as soil P content and sorption capacity. However, both a source of P and a transport pathway are needed for P leaching to occur (Djodjic & Bergström, 2005).

Great efforts have been made to evaluate the effectiveness of measures to reduce P transport losses by water, which are often employed in combination with measures to reduce N losses (Newell Price *et al.*, 2011; Cherry *et al.*, 2008). Nevertheless, only a few field experiments have systematically tested management practices aimed at reducing P leaching with careful measurements of P transport in tile drains, and even fewer have found effective mitigation options for clay soils with fast water transport to tile drains.

5.2.1 Broadcasting, band placement or omission of P fertilizer

There are three general ways of applying fertilizer: broadcast placement, localized placement (band placement/drilling) and foliar application. When a fertilizer is broadcast, it is evenly spread over the entire field surface. It is then is mixed into the soil by tillage or left on the soil surface and allowed to be carried to the root zone by percolating rain. Broadcasting is effective when large amounts of fertilizer have to be spread over a wide area. For P, which tends to be strongly retained by the soil, broadcast application is sometimes

Table 2. Phosphorus leaching (kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) in the different treatments at the Bornsjön site in Paper II. Mean \pm standard deviation of yearly transport from four plots and six years. Different letters within columns denote significant differences between treatments (based on log-transformed values). Fertilizer P was band spread unless otherwise specified

Treatment	Total P	Particulate P	DRP
Conventional ploughing	0.79 ± 0.53	0.68 ± 0.49	0.13 ±0.09
Conventional ploughing, no P	$0.97^b\pm\!0.66$	$0.82^{b} \pm 0.55$	0.15 ± 0.11
Conventional ploughing, lime	$0.59^{a} \pm 0.33$	$0.46^{a} \pm 0.29$	0.13 ± 0.06
Shallow tillage	$0.96 \ \pm 0.56$	0.85 ± 0.51	0.11 ± 0.07
Shallow tillage, broadcast P	$1.13^{b} \pm 0.51$	$0.94^{b}\pm 0.38$	0.20 ± 0.16
Unfertilized fallow	0.77 ± 0.42	0.60 ± 0.31	0.17 ± 0.16
Adapted crop rotation	$0.84^b{\pm}0.48$	0.68 ± 0.39	0.16 ±0.23

less efficient than localized placement (van der Eijk *et al.*, 2006; Randall & Hoeft, 1988). If the fertilizer is not incorporated into the soil, it is also easily washed away with runoff during heavy rain, especially during the first one or two heavy rainfall events after application. One example of localized placement is to drill the fertilizer in bands on either side of the seed when the crop is planted, a practice called band placement. Band placement of P can give higher yields than broadcasting, especially on soils with low soil P levels (Randall & Hoeft, 1988). When localized placement of fertilizer is more efficient than broadcasting, the total amount of fertilizer used can be reduced. If more of the smaller dose of band-placed P is taken up by the crop, less will remain in the soil and the likelihood of long-term P accumulation and P leaching losses may be lower than with broadcasting.

In Paper II, no significant differences in P leaching were found between band placement and broadcasting of fertilizers in the shallow-tilled plots. At the site used in Paper II, which had moderate soil P status (P-AL = 30-50 mg kg⁻¹ soil), omitting P fertilization did not decrease P leaching, but crop yield decreased. The application rate was just slightly above expected crop uptake, and the results show that a balanced P application on a soil with moderate P-AL may increase crop yields while P-leaching is not increased. For other Swedish soils with similar moderate soil P status (P-AL <50 mg kg⁻¹ soil), a positive yield response to P fertilization has been demonstrated (Ehde, 2012).

5.2.2 Conventional ploughing or shallow tillage

Agricultural soil management often involves disturbing the soil surface through tillage, which generally increases the amount of P carried away with particles via surface runoff (Ulén *et al.*, 2010; Lundekvam & Skoien, 1998). Tillage and

tillage type can affect soil properties in many ways. Soil structure, aggregate strength and infiltration capacity are examples of factors which can be modified by different types of tillage and these factors are important for P leaching. In shallow tillage, usually referred to as reduced tillage, the soil is not inverted and is only tilled to a depth of 5-15 cm with a cultivator, disc harrow or rotovator. This leaves the soil surface covered with at least 15% of crop residues year-round, according to the US definition (ASABE, 2005). Reduced tillage has been shown to decrease erosion in both drainage flow and surface flow compared with ploughing (Koskiaho et al., 2002). However, manure or fertilizer and crop residues left on the surface and not incorporated into the soil tend to increase the amount of dissolved P in surface runoff (Sharpley & Smith, 1994). Omission of tillage (no-till) can lead to stratification of soil P, with increased soil P close to the surface where P is applied (Cade-Menun et al., 2010) and, as a consequence, higher losses of dissolved P in surface runoff (Koskiaho et al., 2002; Sharpley & Smith, 1994) and also in tile drains (Gavnor & Findlay, 1995). On the other hand, conventional ploughing can counteract the stratification of soil P and may disrupt macropores and reduce hydraulic conductivity at tillage depth and consequently decrease losses of P from the topsoil. The shallow-tilled plots in Paper II had slightly higher (not statistically significant) P-AL in the upper topsoil than the conventionally ploughed plots, but there were no differences in DRP leaching.

The organic carbon content is usually higher in the upper soil layer in notill or reduced tillage compared with mouldboard ploughing (Schjønning & Thomsen, 2013; Tebrügge & Düring, 1999). This is mainly due to the plant residue cover left on the surface of non-ploughed soils, which can be considered a key factor in promoting microbial activity, improving aggregate stability and protecting against erosive water forces (Tebrügge & Düring, 1999). The risk of particle losses has also been shown to be lower with shallow tillage than with mouldboard ploughing (Etana *et al.*, 2009).

A Norwegian study has shown that tillage has an effect on particle losses, both to the drainage system and with runoff (Øygarden *et al.*, 1997). After tillage, the concentration of suspended solids increased by a factor of 10 in that study, even with small runoff volumes. In the case of particle losses to the drainage system, these were attributed to particles being loosened from the plough layer by tillage and transported through large pores into the backfill. The backfill had an open structure and fine particles could pass through the envelope material surrounding the drain and enter the drain pipe. A dye tracer test demonstrated that rapid flows of water could be followed through cracks into a drain pipe (Øygarden *et al.*, 1997). This type of transport pathway through the backfill, together with cracks leading into the backfill, is possibly

an important transport pathway at the site in Paper II. Omitting ploughing on sloping and erosion-prone soils generally reduces particulate P losses under Scandinavian conditions, while DRP losses may often increase (Ulén *et al.*, 2010).

In a Finnish study on a subsurface-drained clayey soil, conventional autumn ploughing (mouldboard ploughing) was compared with two forms of conservation tillage: no-till (stubble over winter) and shallow autumn cultivation. This site is similar to the Bornsjön site in Paper II in that both are subsurface-drained clay soils in a flat landscape. In the Finnish study, DRP losses were higher from plots under conservation tillage, due to a high proportion of surface runoff and higher concentrations of DRP in runoff than in the ploughed plots (Uusitalo et al., 2007). Losses of particulate P were not reduced in treatments with conservation tillage (compared with ploughed plots), leading those authors to conclude that erosion rates were already quite low in the relatively flat agricultural landscape of southern Finland. Thus the potential for reducing agricultural P losses by reduced tillage in that region appears limited. In a different study at the same site, it was shown that erosion from the clav soil was lower when the soil was not tilled in autumn. However, reduced tillage in autumn (with crop residues left to cover the soil) produced as much erosion as autumn ploughing (Turtola et al., 2007).

In a somewhat unexpected finding, the shallow-tilled plots in Paper II tended to have higher particulate P leaching than the conventionally ploughed plots (Table 2), although the differences were not statistically significant. The tendency for lower particulate P losses with conventional mouldboard ploughing could possibly be explained by disruption of macropores. Another possible explanatory factor could be shallow and uneven accumulation of crop residues in shallow-tilled plots, which might have resulted in uneven infiltration and preferential P transport along straw residues. However, this needs to be investigated further.

5.2.3 Incorporation of structure lime

The availability of P to crops is reduced by P complexation in soil with Ca at high pH, by Fe and Al at low pH and by high clay content. Liming can increase P availability in soils by stimulating mineralization of organic P or can decrease P availability by the formation of Ca phosphates at pH >6.5 (Sharpley & Rekolainen, 1997). However, the pH dependence of phosphate solubility can vary between different soil types (Gustafsson *et al.*, 2012). In Paper II, the soil pH before liming was 6.3, while five years after liming it was 6.6. Liming can also be used as a method to improve soil structure and aggregate stability, and these factors can influence water erosion on soil, *i.e.* the loss of colloids and

particles from soil to water. Cations such as Ca stimulate the precipitation of compounds that act as bonding agents for primary particles. Cations also form bridges between clay and soil organic matter particles, resulting in aggregation (Bronick & Lal, 2005). In a long-term fertility experiment started in 1987 on a clay soil in central Sweden, plots were treated with lime at a high rate corresponding to 6.5 ton CaO per hectare. The results showed that the soil structure and aggregate stability improved in the limed plots (Ivarsson, 1996).

During major flow events and with water-saturated topsoil, the concentration of dispersed clay is known to be high in drainage water at the site in Paper II, while the concentration of dissolved P is low at this site, with its moderate-low soil P status (Ulén *et al.*, 2012; Ulén & Persson, 1999). There is an urgent need for improved technologies for long-term stabilization of this soil type and mitigation of accompanying preferential flows. Incorporation of quicklime (structure lime in the form of calcium oxide, CaO) into the topsoil is a measure which immediately improves the soil structure by flocculation and particle aggregation. In addition, pozzolanic reactions between lime, silica and alumina lead to the formation of cementing products and a long-term increase in soil strength (Locat *et al.*, 1990). At the site used in Paper II, a significant improvement in soil aggregate strength after structure liming, determined as a reduction in readily dispersed clay in a laboratory test, has been demonstrated (Ulén *et al.*, 2012).

In Paper II, mean annual losses of particulate P were significantly lower $(0.36 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}, a 44\%$ reduction) from structure-limed plots than from conventionally ploughed plots without P fertilizer. A comparison between these treatments with yearly flow-weighted concentration of particulate P is shown in Figure 8. Particulate P was the dominant P form in leachate (Table 2). Total P and particulate P leaching losses were also significantly lower from plots with structure liming than from the other treatments grouped together.



Figure 8. Yearly flow-weighted concentrations of particulate P in leachate from conventionally ploughed plots with application of structure lime in the first year and band-placed P fertilizer, compared with conventionally ploughed plots without any P application (Paper II). Error bars with standard deviations.

5.3 Phytomining to reduce soil test P

In areas with intensive livestock farming, soil P levels can be very high due to high application rates of manure for long periods. The risk of P losses to waters by erosion, runoff or leaching may increase when soil test P values increase and the soil becomes more saturated with P (Pautler & Sims, 2000). Once P concentrations in soil have risen over time, few effective mitigation strategies exist to reduce P leaching (Buda *et al.*, 2012). Depletion of soil P by ceasing further additions of P to soil and seasonally exporting P in harvested crop biomass (also referred to as 'mining' or 'phytomining') has been suggested as an effective remediation strategy to decrease the risk of P leaching from P-enriched soils (Koopmans *et al.*, 2004).

In a pot experiment in a greenhouse where ryegrass was grown with no P additions on a P-enriched non-calcareous sandy soil for 978 days, Koopmans et al. (2004) showed a fast and relatively large decrease in readily available soil P and P concentration in the soil solution. In a field experiment in the Netherlands, mining soil P by zero P application over a period of four years led to a strong reduction in readily available P forms in the soil solution in the upper soil layer (0-5 cm) (Van der Salm et al., 2007). The rate of decline in extractable soil P was shown to be greater when soil P was higher and to decrease with decreasing soil P level in a study in which maize was grown for four years without any P addition (Eghball et al., 2003). As the level of soluble P decreases, it becomes more difficult for plants to take up P. However, plants have developed a number of mechanisms to increase the availability of soil P. These include the development of highly branched root systems, the release of root exudates and secretion of root phosphatases (Raghothama, 1999). Mycorrhiza can also increase the availability of P for plants living in symbiosis with this fungus (Smith & Read, 1997). This may provide opportunities to develop cropping systems that use soil (and fertilizer) P efficiently and to identify plant species which have a high P acquisition efficiency even at low soil P levels, in order to achieve cropping systems with optimum utilization of P (Frossard et al., 2000).

The literature on soil P decreases with phytomining is quite variable. For example, Kleinman *et al.* (2011) found that soil test P was not significantly reduced after 10 years of no P application in a phytomining experiment on soils in Maryland, USA, with a history with poultry litter additions and that yearly Mehlich 3 P values showed quite large variation. Elsewhere, McCollum (1991) found that phytomining of a soil with P levels well above yield-limiting levels resulted in declines in Mechlich-1 P that were faster at very high soil P levels than at lower soil P levels. Barber (1979) also found a greater rate of decline in Bray P1 at high levels compared with low following cessation of P application.

Dodd et al. (2012) found exponential decreases in Olsen P and waterextractable P concentration over time in three out of four long-term grassland field trials with no P fertilizer application in New Zealand. Application of N, as well as applying P at half the rate designed to maintain soil P concentration, also reduced leaching of dissolved P in a lysimeter study with regular cutting and removal of pasture biomass (Dodd et al., 2014). Schulte et al. (2010) found that the relative rate of decline in Morgan's P was to a large extent explained by the relative P balance, expressed as P balance/total P. The rate of decline is also likely to be dependent on the strength of the soil extract. A weak extract is only able to extract a smaller amount of P and is more sensitive to changes in easily soluble P, e.g. van der Salm et al. (2009) found a larger decline in weakly bound P pools (water-extractable P and P-AL) than in more strongly bound P forms after 5 years of phytomining. However, the soil's ability to replenish easily soluble P from less soluble P pools would also influence the decline in soil test P values. In the exhaustion land experiment at Rothamsted, which involves 70 years of phytomining, it took nine years for the amount of Olsen P to halve as a result of P removal in the harvested crop (Svers et al., 2008). Some of the soil P pools not extracted by Olsen P at the beginning of the exhaustion experiment were released for plant uptake during the 70 years, which supports the claim that soil P is not irreversibly fixed in the soil. However, results from the Swedish long-term fertility experiments indicate that decreasing P-AL by phytomining is a slower process than increasing P-AL by fertilizer application, as a decrease in P-AL of 10 mg kg⁻¹ took about 17 years, while an increase of 10 mg kg⁻¹ was achieved within 7 years (Bergström et al., 2014). Contradictory to van der Salm et al. (2009), Bergström et al. (2014) also found larger changes in strongly bound P forms (P extracted with HCl) compared with changes in P-AL, as a result of long-term negative P balances.

In the lysimeter experiment in Paper III, the crops were grown and harvested without any P applications for 7-9 years on four soils with topsoil P-AL values ranging from 77 to 431 mg kg⁻¹ at the start of the experiment. The P-AL concentrations in the topsoil were consistently lower at the end of the experiment, although in most soils P-AL remained at excessive levels. Lowering soil test P by phytoextraction appeared to be a slow method in Paper III. Rate of decline in soil test P concentration has been quite variable in previous studies (Dodd *et al.*, 2012; Schulte *et al.*, 2010; McCollum, 1991), although most studies indicate that it will take many years to go from very high soil test P to agronomic optimum levels. Soil testing indicated downward movement of soil P from the topsoil to deeper layers between the start and end of the study in three out of the four soils tested in Paper III. Only one soil, a clay soil with the lowest P-AL value, showed a significant decreasing trend in

DRP leaching losses. To the best of our knowledge, no other long-term studies have provided direct measurements of P leaching in connection with phytomining. The slow response in P concentration to halted P applications should be noted by policymakers setting environmental targets.

6 Leachate studies – evaluation of methods

All methods used to determine leaching in soils have different advantages and disadvantages. More controlled methods often have the benefit of allowing the researcher to focus on a few parameters and evaluate their effects. However, these methods may involve simplifications, they may be partly artificial systems and they may represent reality to different extents. Measurements in the field under more 'natural' conditions are often thought to represent real conditions quite well, but may be more difficult to interpret because of many varying factors. Choice of measurement techniques is an important factor.

6.1 Lysimeters

Intact soil columns were used in Papers I and III to preserve soil structure. Free drainage systems were used in both studies, in which a water-saturated zone must form at the bottom of the soil column before water can drain out (Bergström, 1990). For the soil columns used in Paper I, which were 20 cm long, this would represent conditions with a high groundwater level. The soil columns in Paper III were approximately 1 m long, which is close to the common tile drainage depth in Sweden. However, upward flow of groundwater and/or lateral flow are not possible in lysimeters. Sidewall flow along the lysimeter wall has been discussed by *e.g.* Bergström (1990), and in some studies a sealant has been applied between the soil and column wall (*e.g.* Wildenschild *et al.*, 1994; Weber & Whitacre, 1982). However, intrusion of the sealant into the pore system has been observed, which may block transport pathways (Vanderborght *et al.*, 2002). Soil column diameter was 20 cm in Paper I and 29.5 cm in Paper III. An illustration of the lysimeter type used in Paper III is given in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Lysimeter of the type used in Paper III, placed in a belowground pipe. From Bergström and Johansson (1991).

As mentioned in Paper I, the topsoil columns had varying initial soil moisture (based on varying field conditions for different soils) and this may have affected P leaching results in the first of the three simulated rainfall events. None of the soils was extremely dry, but dry initial conditions are known to promote preferential flow, *e.g.* through unstable infiltration fronts and water repellence in dry soils leading to finger flow (Hardie *et al.*, 2011; Ritsema *et al.*, 1998), and through less antecedent water in the soil needing to be displaced when the soil is dry. The simulated rainfall events in Paper I, with high rain intensities, represented very wet 'worst case' conditions, close to saturation. Ponding was observed in a few soil columns. Conditions close to saturation and high rainfall intensities promote macropore flow (Jarvis, 2007; Bergström & Shirmohammadi, 1999). Another factor which may affect studies investigating transport pathways is entrapped air in lysimeters. In some studies the soil columns have been pre-treated by slowly saturating them from the bottom to avoid this (*e.g.* Kjaergaard *et al.*, 2004).

Leaching from the topsoil columns can be seen as 'potential P leaching', but subsoil properties and water transport pathways can have a modifying effect on P leaching in deeper soil layers.

It was very valuable to have access to the Swedish long-term fertility experiments, where long-term treatments with varying P applications in different parts of the fields resulted in four P-AL levels in separate plots in each field. This allowed us to evaluate the effect of P-AL alone for different soil types. The five soils used in Paper I represent common Swedish agricultural soil types and include loamy sand, sandy loam, loam and silty clay loam.

6.2 Experimental field with separately drained plots

Experimental fields are needed in order to study the effects of management practices where real farm machinery is used. Field plots also integrate a larger area than soil columns. There are risks of lateral flow between plots, upward flow of groundwater which dilutes the drainage water, and bypass of drainage pipes (*i.e.* leachate going to the groundwater instead of the drainage pipes).

In Paper II, losses in tile drains were studied in an experimental field with separately tile-drained plots. The experimental field is flat, with efficient drainage, and surface runoff has not been indicated. Some of the transport through the soil, to the drainage pipes, probably occurs in the drain backfill (Øygarden *et al.*, 1997). The proportion of the transport which moves through the backfill (gravel with soil on top at this site) is not affected by the chemical and physical properties of the soil in other parts of the field (although the properties of the soil affect the transport to the backfill). The proportion of the transport going through the backfill has not yet been investigated or quantified at this site.

Drainage water was sampled flow-proportionally and analyzed on a weekly basis. This provided good values for calculating transport but the peaks in concentration and transport became flatter and broader, which is not ideal if different processes are being studied. Hence, it is better to focus on yearly or seasonal values from this type of measurement.

7 Summary and conclusions

7.1 Topsoil P leaching (Paper I)

A long-term perspective is needed in P management. Long-term fertilization rates resulting in varying soil P status had clear effects on P leaching from the topsoil in Paper I. No clear differences in topsoil P leaching were found between the cropping systems representing farms with or without animals, but in some soils the short-term effect of manure application on topsoil P leaching was further amplified by high P-AL values. Interactive effects between manure P and soil P need to be further evaluated. It was also clear that topsoil P leaching depends not only on soil P status, but also on other soil characteristics. It is important to identify soils which are especially susceptible to P leaching losses, and on these soils it is particularly important to apply manure and/or fertilizer P according to soil test P values and plant requirements. Topsoil P leaching losses were generally low from soils with a long-term balance between harvested and applied P (Paper I). These soils were in the agronomic optimum P-AL class (III) or below the optimum (class II) according to Swedish recommendations. Besides the concentration of soil P readily available for plant uptake (measured as P-AL), other chemical factors such as P sorption capacity and P sorption saturation are important for P leaching potential. However, one must always consider the transport pathways through the soil. For example, in the case of dissolved P transport via preferential flow, binding sites in the soil matrix are to a large extent bypassed.

7.2 Management practices on a clay soil (Paper II)

The spatial variation in P leaching was large for the experimental field on clay soil used in Paper II, even though P-AL and discharge volumes were relatively uniform across the field. Incorporation of structure lime significantly reduced P

leaching losses from this clay soil, by increasing aggregate strength and possibly causing more homogeneous infiltration through the soil (reducing the risk of critical fast flows). Incorporation of structure lime appears to be a promising option for reducing P leaching from this type of soil with a high clay content. However, the precise effects on soil structure and flow pathways need to be further investigated and the effect on P losses needs to be evaluated for a number of soils with varying clay content, soil P status and other properties.

In this thesis it was not possible to identify significant effects on P leaching of the other management options in the study (conventional ploughing/shallow tillage; no P application/balanced P application; broadcasting/band spreading of fertilizer P). However, less pronounced effects on P leaching of the different management options may have been overshadowed by the large spatial variation observed in the data. It would be interesting to conduct further studies comparing the effects of mouldboard ploughing and shallow tillage on P leaching.

7.3 Phytomining (Paper III)

Lowering soil test P by phytomining, *i.e.* by removal of P with the harvested crop from soil with no P fertilization, takes a long time. Soil test P was consistently lower at the end of the phytomining experiment, although in most soils P-AL remained at excessive levels. Only one soil showed a significant decreasing trend in DRP leaching. Going from excessive to optimum soil test P (in the topsoil) may take decades in many cases and visible effects on P leaching may take even longer. It would be valuable if the rate of decline in soil test P could be increased by different forms of management, *e.g.* N fertilization and other methods of maximizing crop uptake and harvest of P. Investigating how different soil properties affect the rate of soil P decline would also be interesting. However, efforts should first of all be made to avoid soil P levels reaching values well above the agronomic optimum.

7.4 New knowledge outcomes

The results presented in this thesis show that: (i) there are clear differences between soils as regards the relationship between P-AL and topsoil P leaching, and in some soils the increase in topsoil P leaching after manure application is even larger at high P-AL; (ii) incorporation of quicklime is a promising mitigation option for reducing P leaching from clay soils; and (iii) P leaching may be reduced after phytomining, but this mitigation strategy takes a very long time.

7.5 Management recommendations

Applying manure and fertilizer P according to soil P status and plant requirements and avoiding soil P levels above the agronomic optimum are elements of a sound basic strategy. Stabilizing the soil aggregates by incorporation of amendments such as quicklime on clay soils is also a promising measure to reduce P leaching. A long-term perspective is needed in soil P management, and soil-specific properties need to be considered when choosing appropriate mitigation strategies to reduce P leaching.

References

- Akhtar, M.S., Richards, B.K., Medrano, P.A., DeGroot, M. & Steenhuis, T.S. (2003). Dissolved phosphorus from undisturbed soil cores: Related to adsorption strength, flow rate, or soil structure? *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 67(2), 458-470.
- Albertsson, B. (2013). *Riktlinjer för gödsling och kalkning 2014*. (Jordbruksinformation 11, Swedish Board of Agriculture.
- Andersson, H., Bergström, L., Djodjic, F., Ulén, B. & Kirchmann, H. (2013). Topsoil and Subsoil Properties Influence Phosphorus Leaching from Four Agricultural Soils. J. Environ. Qual. 42(2), 455-463.
- Aronsson, H., Liu, J., Ekre, E., Torstensson, G. & Salomon, E. (2014). Effects of pig and dairy slurry application on N and P leaching from crop rotations with spring cereals and forage leys. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 1-13.
- ASABE (2005). Terminology and Definitions for Soil Tillage and Soil-Tool RelationshipsASAE EP291.3 FEB2005 (R2013).
- Barber, S.A. (1979). Soil phosphorus after 25 years of cropping with 5 rates of phosphorus application. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 10(11), 1459-1468.
- Beauchemin, S., Simard, R.R. & Cluis, D. (1998). Forms and concentration of phosphorus in drainage water of twenty-seven tile-drained soils. *Journal* of Environmental Quality 27(3), 721-728.
- Bechmann, M.E., Kleinman, P.J.A., Sharpley, A.N. & Saporito, L.S. (2005). Freeze-thaw effects on phosphorus loss in runoff froin manured and catch-cropped soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 34(6), 2301-2309.
- Bergström, L. (1990). Use of lysimeters to estimate leaching of pesticides in agricultural soils. *Environmental Pollution* 67(4), 325-347.
- Bergström, L. & Johansson, R. (1991). Leaching of Nitrate from Monolith Lysimeters of Different Types of Agricultural Soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 20, 801-807.
- Bergström, L., Kirchmann, H., Djodjic, F., Ulén, B., Kyllmar, K., Liu, J., Andersson, H., Aronsson, H., Börjesson, G., Kynkäänniemi, P., Svanbäck, A. & Villa, A. (2014) Turnover and losses of phosphorus in

Swedish agricultural soils – long-term changes, leaching trends and mitigations measures. Submitted manuscript.

- Bergström, L.F. & Shirmohammadi, A. (1999). Areal extent of preferential flow with profile depth in sand and clay monoliths. *Journal of Soil Contamination* 8(6), 637-651.
- Blombäck, K., Johnsson, H., Lindsjö, A., Mårtensson, K., Persson, K. & Schmieder, F. (2011). Läckage av näringsämnen från svensk åkermark för år 2009 beräknat med PLC5-metodik: SMED. ISSN 57 2011.
- Bolton, E.F., Ayleswor.Jw & Hore, F.R. (1970). Nutrient losses through tile drains under 3 cropping systems and 2 fertility levels on a Brookston clay soil *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 50(3), 275-&.
- Börling, K. (2003). Phosphorus Soprtion, Accumulation and Leaching. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae* Agraria 428.
- Börling, K., Otabbong, E. & Barberis, E. (2001). Phosphorus sorption in relation to soil properties in some cultivated Swedish soils. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 59(1), 39-46.
- Börling, K., Otabbong, E. & Barberis, E. (2004). Soil variables for predicting potential phosphorus release in Swedish noncalcareous soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 33(1), 99-106.
- Bottcher, A.B., Monke, E.J. & Huggins, L.F. (1981). Nutrient and sediment loadings from a subsurface drainage system. *Transactions of the Asae* 24(5), 1221-1226.
- Bourke, D., Kurz, I., Dowding, P., O'Reilly, C., Tunney, H., Doody, D.G., O'Brien, J.E. & Jeffrey, D.W. (2009). Characterisation of organic phosphorus in overland flow from grassland plots using P-31 nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Soil Use and Management* 25(3), 234-242.
- Brady, N.C. & Weil, R.R. (2002). *The nature and properties of soils*. 13th ed. ed. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Braskerud, B.C. (2001). Sedimentation in small constructed wetlands: retention of particles, phosphorus and nitrogen in streams from arable watersheds.
 Ås, Norway: Norges Landbrukshögskole (Agricultural University of Norway). (Sedimentation in small constructed wetlands: retention of particles, phosphorus and nitrogen in streams from arable watersheds. ISBN 82-575-0458-0.
- Bray, R.H. & Kurtz, L.T. (1945). Determination of total, organic and available forms of phosphorus in soils. *Soil Science* 59(1), 39-45.
- Brink, N. & Gustafson, A. (1970). Kväve och fosfor från skog, åker och bebyggelse. *Lantbrukshögskolan, Inst. för markvetenskap, Vattenvård* 1.
- Brink, N., Gustafson, A. & Persson, G. (1978). Losses of nutrients from arable land. In: *Ekohydrologi* Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Division of Water Management.
- Bronick, C.J. & Lal, R. (2005). Soil structure and management: a review. *Geoderma* 124(1-2), 3-22.
- Brookes, P.C., Heckrath, G., De Smet, J., Hofman, G. & Vanderdeelen, J. (1997). Losses of phosphorus in drainage water. In: *Phosphorus loss from soil to water*. pp. 253-271 CAB International {a}. ISBN 0-85199-156-4.

- Bryan, O.C. (1933). The Accumulation and Availability of Phosphorus in Old Citrus Grove Soils. *Soil Science* 36(4), 245-260.
- Buda, A.R., Koopmans, G.F., Bryant, R.B. & Chardon, W.J. (2012). Emerging Technologies for Removing Nonpoint Phosphorus from Surface Water and Groundwater: Introduction. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 41(3), 621-627.
- Cade-Menun, B.J., Carter, M.R., James, D.C. & Liu, C.W. (2010). Phosphorus Forms and Chemistry in the Soil Profile under Long-Term Conservation Tillage: A Phosphorus-31 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Study. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 39(5), 1647-1656.
- Carlgren, K. & Mattsson, L. (2001). Swedish soil fertility experiments. *Acta* Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B-Soil and Plant Science 51(2), 49-78.
- Cherry, K.A., Shepherd, M., Withers, P.J.A. & Mooney, S.J. (2008). Assessing the effectiveness of actions to mitigate nutrient loss from agriculture: A review of methods. *Science of the Total Environment* 406(1–2), 1-23.
- Csathó, P. & Radimszky, L. (2012). Sustainable Agricultural NP Turnover in the 27 European Countries. In: Lichtfouse, E. (Ed.) *Organic Fertilisation, Soil Quality and Human Health*. pp. 161-186 Springer Netherlands; 9). ISBN 978-94-007-4113-3.
- Culley, J.L.B., Bolton, E.F. & Bernyk, V. (1983). Suspended solids and phosphorus loads from a clay soil: I Plot studies. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 12(4), 493-498.
- de Jonge, L.W., Moldrup, P., Rubaek, G.H., Schelde, K. & Djurhuus, J. (2004). Particle leaching and particle-facilitated transport of phosphorus at field scale. *Vadose Zone Journal* 3(2), 462-470.
- Djodjic, F. & Bergström, L. (2005). Conditional phosphorus index as an educational tool for risk assessment and phosphorus management. *Ambio* 34(4-5), 296-300.
- Djodjic, F., Bergström, L. & Ulén, B. (2002). Phosphorus losses from a structured clay soil in relation to tillage practices. *Soil Use and Management* 18(2), 79-83.
- Djodjic, F., Bergström, L., Ulén, B. & Shirmohammadi, A. (1999). Mode of transport of surface-applied phosphorus-33 through a clay and sandy soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 28(4), 1273-1282.
- Djodjic, F., Börling, K. & Bergström, L. (2004). Phosphorus leaching in relation to soil type and soil phosphorus content. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 33(2), 678-684.
- Djodjic, F. & Kyllmar, K. (2011). Spridning av gödselmedel på åkermark. *Inst för Vatten och miljö rapport* 2011:22(22).
- Dodd, R.J., McDowell, R.W. & Condron, L.M. (2012). Predicting the changes in environmentally and agronomically significant phosphorus forms following the cessation of phosphorus fertilizer applications to grassland. *Soil Use and Management* 28(2), 135-147.
- Dodd, R.J., McDowell, R.W. & Condron, L.M. (2014). Manipulation of fertiliser regimes in phosphorus enriched soils can reduce phosphorus loss to leachate through an increase in pasture and microbial biomass production. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 185(0), 65-76.

- Edwards, W.M. & Owens, L.B. (1991). Large storm effects on total soil-erosion. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 46(1), 75-78.
- Eghball, B., Shanahan, J.F., Varvel, G.E. & Gilley, J.E. (2003). Reduction of high soil test phosphorus by corn and soybean varieties. *Agronomy Journal* 95(5), 1233-1239.
- Egnér, H., Riehm, H. & Domingo, W.R. (1960). Investigations on chemical soil analysis as the basis for estimating soil fertility. II. Chemical extraction methods for phosphorus and potassium determination. *Kungl Lantbrukshogskolans Ann* 26, 199-215.
- Ehde, L. (2012). Efficiency of phosphorus fertilization in long-term soil fertility experiments. *Master thesis, Dep. of Soil & Environment SLU* 2012, 11.
- Eriksson, A.K., Ulen, B., Berzina, L., Iital, A., Janssons, V., Sileika, A.S. & Toomsoo, A. (2013). Phosphorus in agricultural soils around the Baltic Sea - comparison of laboratory methods as indices for phosphorus leaching to waters. *Soil Use and Management* 29, 5-14.
- Eriksson, J., Mattsson, L. & Söderström, M. (2010). *Current status of Swedish* arable soils and cereal crops. Data from the period 2001-2007: SEPA. ISSN Report 6349.
- Etana, A., Rydberg, T. & Arvidsson, J. (2009). Readily dispersible clay and particle transport in five Swedish soils under long-term shallow tillage and mouldboard ploughing. *Soil & Tillage Research* 106(1), 79-84.
- Flury, M., Fluhler, H., Jury, W.A. & Leuenberger, J. (1994). Suseptibility of soils to preferential flow of water - a field study review. *Water Resources Research* 30(7), 1945-1954.
- Frossard, E., Condron, L.M., Oberson, A., Sinaj, S. & Fardeau, J.C. Processes governing phosphorus availability in temperate soils. In: 2000. pp. 15-23: Amer Soc Agronomy.
- Fuentes, B., Dixon, E., de la Luz Mora, M., Turner, B.L. & Bol, R. (2012). Dissolved phosphorus composition of grassland leachates following application of dairy-slurry size fractions. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 175(1), 78-85.
- Gaynor, J.D. & Findlay, W.I. (1995). Soil and phosphorus loss from conservation and conventional tillage in corn production. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 24(4), 734-741.
- Geohring, L.D., McHugh, O.V., Walter, M.T., Steenhuis, T.S., Akhtar, M.S. & Walter, M.F. (2001). Phosphorus transport into subsurface drains by macropores after manure applications: Implications for best manure management practices. *Soil Science* 166(12), 896-909.
- Glaesner, N., Kjaergaard, C., Rubaek, G.H. & Magid, J. (2011). Interactions between Soil Texture and Placement of Dairy Slurry Application: II. Leaching of Phosphorus Forms. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(2), 344-351.
- Gustafsson, J.P., Mwamila, L.B. & Kergoat, K. (2012). The pH dependence of phosphate sorption and desorption in Swedish agricultural soils. *Geoderma* 189, 304-311.

- Hardie, M.A., Cotching, W.E., Doyle, R.B., Holz, G., Lisson, S. & Mattern, K. (2011). Effect of antecedent soil moisture on preferential flow in a texture-contrast soil. *Journal of Hydrology* 398(3-4), 191-201.
- Harrison, A.F. (1987). Soil organic phosphorus. A review of world literature. Wallingford, Oxon., UK: CAB International. (Soil organic phosphorus. A review of world literature. ISBN 0-85198-589-0.
- Hart, M.R., Quin, B.F. & Nguyen, M.L. (2004). Phosphorus runoff from agricultural land and direct fertilizer effects: A review. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 33(6), 1954-1972.
- Heckrath, G., Brookes, P.C., Poulton, P.R. & Goulding, K.W.T. (1995).
 Phosphorus leaching from soils containing different phosphorus concentrations in the Broadbalk experiment. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 24(5), 904-910.
- HELCOM (2012). *Fifth Baltic Sea Pollution Load Complation (PLC-5)*Baltic Sea Environment Proceedings No. 128)
- Hemwall, J.B. (1957). The fixation of phosphorus by soils. Advanc. Agron. 9.
- Hens, M. & Schoumans, O.F. (2002). The role of soil processes: Synthesis of actions. In: Chardon, W.J., et al. (Eds.) Phosphorus losses from agricultural soils: Processes at the field scale. pp. 7-12. Wageningen, The Netherlands: COST Action 832.
- Hoffmann, C.C., Kjaergaard, C., Uusi-Kämppa, J., Hansen, H.C.B. & Kronvang, B. (2009). Phosphorus Retention in Riparian Buffers: Review of Their Efficiency. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 38(5), 1942-1955.
- IFADATA International Fertilizer Industry Association Statistics. [online] [Accessed 2014-01-27].
- ISO (2003). Water quality determination of phosphate and total phosphorus by flow injection analysis (CFA and FIA). Part 1: method by flow injection analysis (FIA). In.
- Ivarsson, R. (1996). *Plöjningsfri odling och strukturkalkning på lerjordar*: Meddelanden från jordbearbetningsavdelningen - Statens lantbruksuniversitet.
- Jakobsen, I., Leggett, M.E. & Richardson, A.E. (2005). Rhizosphere Microorganisms and Plant Phosphorus Uptake. In: Sims, J.T., et al. (Eds.) Phosphorus: Agriculture and the Environment. pp. 437-494 American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America. (Agronomy Monograph.
- Jarvis, N.J. (2007). A review of non-equilibrium water flow and solute transport in soil macropores: principles, controlling factors and consequences for water quality. *European Journal of Soil Science* 58(3), 523-546.
- Jensen, M.B., Jorgensen, P.R., Hansen, H.C.B. & Nielsen, N.E. (1998). Biopore mediated subsurface transport of dissolved orthophosphate. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27(5), 1130-1137.
- Johnsson, H., Larsson, M., Lindsjö, A., Mårtensson, K., Persson, K. & Torstensson, G. (2008). Läckage av näringsämnen från svensk åkermark, Beräkningar av normalläckage av kväve och fosfor för 1995 och 2005. (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency Report 5823; ISBN 978-91-620-5823-4).

Kellogg, R.L., Lander, C.H., Moffitt, D.C. & Gollehon, N. (2000). Manure nutrients relative to the capacity of cropland and pastureland to assimilate nutrients: spatial and temporal trends for the United States. GSA National Forms and Publication Center. Fort Worth, TX.

Kendall, M.G. (1975). Rank Correlation Methods. London: Charles Griffin.

- Kjaergaard, C., Poulsen, T.G., Moldrup, P. & de Jonge, L.W. (2004). Colloid mobilization and transport in undisturbed soil columns. I. Pore structure characterization and tritium transport. *Vadose Zone Journal* 3(2), 413-423.
- Kleinman, P.J.A., Sharpley, A.N., Buda, A.R., McDowell, R.W. & Allen, A.L. (2011). Soil controls of phosphorus in runoff: Management barriers and opportunities. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 91(3), 329-338.
- Kleinman, P.J.A., Sharpley, A.N., Saporito, L.S., Buda, A.R. & Bryant, R.B. (2009). Application of manure to no-till soils: phosphorus losses by subsurface and surface pathways. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 84(3), 215-227.
- Kleinman, P.J.A., Srinivasan, M.S., Sharpley, A.N. & Gburek, W.J. (2005). Phosphorus leaching through intact soil columns before and after poultry manure application. *Soil Science* 170(3), 153-166.
- Koestel, J. & Jorda, H. (2014). What determines the strength of preferential transport in undisturbed soil under steady-state flow? *Geoderma* 217-218, 144-160.
- Koopmans, G.F., Chardon, W.J., Ehlert, P.A.I., Dolfing, J., Suurs, R.A.A., Oenema, O. & van Riemsdijk, W.H. (2004). Phosphorus availability for plant uptake in a phosphorus-enriched noncalcareous sandy soil. *Journal* of Environmental Quality 33(3), 965-975.
- Koskiaho, J., Kivisaari, S., Vermeulen, S., Kauppila, R., Kallio, K. & Puustinen, M. (2002). Reduced tillage: Influence on erosion and nutrient losses in a clayey field in southern Finland. *Agricultural and Food Science in Finland* 11(1), 37-50.
- Kronvang, B., Rubaek, G.H. & Heckrath, G. (2009). International Phosphorus Workshop: Diffuse Phosphorus Loss to Surface Water Bodies-Risk Assessment, Mitigation Options, and Ecological Effects in River Basins. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 38(5), 1924-1929.
- Libiseller, C. & Grimvall, A. (2002). Performance of partial Mann-Kendall tests for trend detection in the presence of covariates. *Environmetrics* 13(1), 71-84.
- Littell, R., Milliken, G., Stroup, W., Wolfinger, R. & Schabenberger, O. (2006). *SAS for mixed models*. 2. ed: SAS Institute Inc.
- Liu, J., Aronsson, H., Ulén, B. & Bergström, L. (2012). Potential phosphorus leaching from sandy topsoils with different fertilizer histories before and after application of pig slurry. *Soil Use and Management* 28(4), 457-467.
- Locat, J., Bérubé, M.-A. & Choquette, M. (1990). Laboratory investigations on the lime stabilization of sensitive clays: shear strength development. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal* 27(3), 294-304.

- Lundekvam, H. & Skoien, S. (1998). Soil erosion in Norway. An overview of measurements from soil loss plots. *Soil Use and Management* 14(2), 84-89.
- Maguire, R.O. & Sims, J.T. (2002). Soil testing to predict phosphorus leaching. Journal of Environmental Quality 31(5), 1601-1609.
- Mann, H.B. (1945). Nonparametric tests against trend. *Econometrica* 13(3), 245-259.
- McCollum, R.E. (1991). Buildup and decline in soil phosphorus: 30-year trends on a typic Umprabuult. *Agronomy Journal* 83(1), 77-85.
- McDowell, R.W. & Sharpley, A.N. (2001). Approximating phosphorus release from soils to surface runoff and subsurface drainage. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30(2), 508-520.
- Mehlich, A. (1953). Determination of P, Ca, Mg, K, Na, and NH4. North Carolina Soil Test Division (Mimeo). Raleigh, NC.
- Mehlich, A. (1984). Mehlich 3 soil test extractant A modification of the Mehlich 2 extractant. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 15(12), 1409-1416.
- Miller, M.H., Beauchamp, E.G. & Lauzon, J.D. (1994). Leaching of Nitrogen and Phosphorus from the Biomass of 3 Cover Crop Species. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 23(2), 267-272.
- Mozaffari, M. & Sims, J.T. (1994). Phosphorus availability and sorption in an Atlantic coastal-plain watershed dominated by animal-based agriculture. *Soil Science* 157(2), 97-107.
- Mullins, G., Joern, B. & Moore, P. (2005). By-product phosphorus: sources, characteristics, and management. Madison,: American Society of Agronomy. (Phosphorus: agriculture and the environment. ISBN 0-89118-157-1.
- Nelson, W.L., A., M. & E., W. (1953). The development, evaluation, and use of soil tests for phosphorus availability. *Agronomy* 4, 153-158.
- Newell Price, J.P., Harris, D., Taylor, M., Williams, J.R., Anthony, S.G., Duethmann, D., Gooday, R.D., Lord, E.I., Cambers, B.J., Chadwick, D.R. & Misselbrook, T.H. (2011). An Inventory of Mitigation Methods and Guide to their Effects on Diffuse Water Pollution, Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Ammonia Emissions from Agriculture.
- Olsen, S.R., Cole, C.V., Watanabe, F.S. & Dean, L.A. (1954). Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate. USDA Circular 939. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington D.C.
- Øygarden, L., Kvaerner, J. & Jenssen, P.D. (1997). Soil erosion via preferential flow to drainage systems in clay soils. *Geoderma* 76(1-2), 65-86.
- Pautler, M.C. & Sims, J.T. (2000). Relationships between soil test phosphorus, soluble phosphorus, and phosphorus saturation in Delaware soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 64(2), 765-773.
- Preedy, N., McTiernan, K., Matthews, R., Heathwaite, L. & Haygarth, P. (2001). Rapid incidental phosphorus transfers from grassland. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30(6), 2105-2112.

Quiquampoix, H. & Mousain, D. (2005). Enzymatic hydrolysis of organic phosphorus. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing. (Organic phosphorus in the environment. ISBN 0-85199-822-4.

Raghothama, K.G. (1999). Phosphate acquisition. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 50, 665-693.

- Randall, G.W. & Hoeft, R.G. (1988). Placement methods for improved efficiency of P and K fertilizers: a review. *Journal of Production Agriculture* 1(1).
- Reijneveld, J.A., Ehlert, P.A.I., Termorshuizen, A.J. & Oenema, O. (2010). Changes in the soil phosphorus status of agricultural land in the Netherlands during the 20th century. *Soil Use and Management* 26(4), 399-411.
- Riehm, H. (1943). Bestimmung der laktat löslichen Phosphorsäure in karbonat haltigen Böden (Determination of lactate-dissolved phosphorous acid in soils with carbonates). *Phosphorsäure* 1, 167-178.
- Ritsema, C.J., Nieber, J.L., Dekker, L.W. & Steenhuis, T.S. (1998). Stable or unstable wetting fronts in water repellent soils - effect of antecedent soil moisture content. *Soil & Tillage Research* 47(1-2), 111-123.
- SCB (2013). Nitrogen and phosphorus balances for agricultural land and agricultural sector in 2011. *Statistiska meddelanden* MI 40 SM 1301.
- SCB (2014). Drainage of agricultural land, preliminary statistics. *Statistiska meddelanden* JO 10 SM 1401.
- Schjønning, P. & Thomsen, I.K. (2013). Shallow tillage effects on soil properties for temperate-region hard-setting soils. Soil & Tillage Research 132, 12-20.
- Schulte, R.P.O., Melland, A.R., Fenton, O., Herlihy, M., Richards, K. & Jordan, P. (2010). Modelling soil phosphorus decline: Expectations of Water Framework Directive policies. *Environmental Science & Policy* 13(6), 472-484.
- SEPA (2006). Övergödningen av Sveriges kuster och hav Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. ISSN Report 5587.
- Sharpley, A. & Moyer, B. (2000). Phosphorus Forms in Manure and Compost and Their Release during Simulated Rainfall. J. Environ. Qual. 29(5), 1462-1469.
- Sharpley, A.N., Gburek, W.J., Folmar, G. & Pionke, H.B. (1999). Sources of phosphorus exported from an agricultural watershed in Pennsylvania. *Agricultural Water Management* 41(2), 77-89.
- Sharpley, A.N. & Rekolainen, S. (1997). Phosphorus in agriculture and its environmental implications. In: Tunney, H., et al. (Eds.) Phosphorus loss from soil to water. pp. 1-53. Guildford, UK: CAB International. ISBN 0-85199-156-4.
- Sharpley, A.N. & Smith, S.J. (1994). Wheat tillage and water-quality in the Southern Plains. Soil & Tillage Research 30(1), 33-48.
- Sibbesen, E. & Sharpley, A.N. (1997). Setting and justifying upper critical limits for phosphorus in soils. Wallingford, UK: Cab International. (Phosphorus loss from soil to water. Proceedings of a workshop, Wexford, Irish Republic, 29-31 September 1995. ISBN 0-85199-156-4.

- Sileika, A.S., Kutra, S. & Berankiene, L. (2002). Phosphate Run-Off in the Nevezis River (Lithuania). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 78(2), 153-167.
- Simard, R.R., Beauchemin, S. & Haygarth, P.M. Potential for preferential pathways of phosphorus transport. In: 2000. pp. 97-105: Amer Soc Agronomy.
- Sims, J.T., Bergstrom, L., Bowman, B.T. & Oenema, O. (2005). Nutrient management for intensive animal agriculture: policies and practices for sustainability. *Soil Use and Management* 21, 141-151.
- Sims, J.T., Edwards, A.C., Schoumans, O.F. & Simard, R.R. (2000). Integrating soil phosphorus testing into environmentally based agricultural management practices. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29(1), 60-71.
- Sims, J.T. & Kleinman, P.J.A. (2005). Managing agricultural phosphorus for environmental protection. Madison,: American Society of Agronomy. (Phosphorus: agriculture and the environment. ISBN 0-89118-157-1.
- Sims, J.T., Simard, R.R. & Joern, B.C. Phosphorus loss in agricultural drainage: Historical perspective and current research. In: 1998. pp. 277-293: Amer Soc Agronomy.
- Skaggs, R.W., Breve, M.A. & Gilliam, J.W. (1994). Hydrologic and water-quality impacts of agricultural drainage. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* 24(1), 1-32.
- Smeck, N.E. (1985). Phosphorus dynamics in soils and landscapes. *Geoderma* 36(3–4), 185-199.
- Smedema, L.K., Abdel-Dayem, S. & Ochs, W.J. (2000). Drainage and agricultural development. *Irrigation and Drainage Systems* 14(3).
- Smith, S.E. & Read, D.J. (1997). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. In: Mycorrhizal symbiosis. p. ix + 605 pp. San Diego, US: Academic Press. ISBN 0-12-652840-3.
- Stamm, C., Fluhler, H., Gachter, R., Leuenberger, J. & Wunderli, H. (1998). Preferential transport of phosphorus in drained grassland soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27(3), 515-522.
- Stamm, C., Sermet, R., Leuenberger, J., Wunderli, H., Wydler, H., Fluhler, H. & Gehre, M. (2002). Multiple tracing of fast solute transport in a drained grassland soil. *Geoderma* 109(3-4), 245-268.
- Stutter, M.I., Chardon, W.J. & Kronvang, B. (2012). Riparian Buffer Strips as a Multifunctional Management Tool in Agricultural Landscapes: Introduction. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 41(2), 297-303.
- Su, J.J., van Bochove, E., Theriault, G., Novotna, B., Khaldoune, J., Denault, J.T., Zhou, J., Nolin, M.C., Hu, C.X., Bernier, M., Benoy, G., Xing, Z.S. & Chow, L. (2011). Effects of snowmelt on phosphorus and sediment losses from agricultural watersheds in Eastern Canada. *Agricultural Water Management* 98(5), 867-876.
- Syers, J.K., Johnston, A.E. & Curtin, D. (2008). Efficiency of soil and fertilizer phosphorus use: reconciling changing concepts of soil phosphorus behaviour with agronomic information. FAO Fertilizer and Plant Nutrition Bulletin (18).

- Tebrügge, F. & Düring, R.A. (1999). Reducing tillage intensity a review of results from a long-term study in Germany. *Soil & Tillage Research* 53(1), 15-28.
- Toor, G.S., Condron, L.M., Di, H.J., Cameron, K.C. & Cade-Menun, B.J. (2003). Characterization of organic phosphorus in leachate from a grassland soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 35(10), 1317-1323.
- Turner, B.L. (2005). Organic phosphorus transfer from terrestrial to aquatic environments. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing. (Organic phosphorus in the environment. ISBN 0-85199-822-4.
- Turtola, E. (1999). *Phosphorus in surface runoff and drainage water affected by cultivation practices*. Diss.:Agricultural Research Centre of Finland.
- Turtola, E., Alakukku, L., Uusitalo, R. & Kaseva, A. (2007). Surface runoff, subsurface drainflow and soil erosion as affected by tillage in a clayey Finnish soil. *Agricultural and Food Science* 16(4), 332-351.
- Turtola, E. & Jaakkola, A. (1995). Loss of Phosphorus by Surface Runoff and Leaching from a Heavy Clay Soil under Barley and Grass Lay in Finland. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B-Soil and Plant Science* 45(3), 159-165.
- Turtola, E. & Paajanen, A. (1995). Influence of improved subsurface drainage on phosphorus losses and nitrogen leaching from a heavy clay soil. *Agricultural Water Management* 28(4), 295-310.
- Uhlen, G. (1989). Nutrient leaching and surface runoff in field lysimeters on a cultivated soil. Nutrient balances 1974-81. *Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 3(1).
- Ulén, B. (1995). Episodic precipitaion and discharge events and their influence on losses of phosphorus and nitrogen from tiledrained arable fields. *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research* 25(1), 25-31.
- Ulén, B. (1999). Leaching and balances of phosphorus and other nutrients in lysimeters after application of organic manures or fertilizers. *Soil Use and Management* 15(1), 56-61.
- Ulén, B. (2003). Concentrations and transport of different forms of phosphorus during snowmelt runoff from an illite clay soil. *Hydrological Processes* 17(4), 747-758.
- Ulén, B. (2004). Size and settling velocities of phosphorus-containing particles in water from agricultural drains. *Water Air and Soil Pollution* 157(1-4), 331-343.
- Ulén, B. (2006). A simplified risk assessment for losses of dissolved reactive phosphorus through drainage pipes from agricultural soils. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B-Soil and Plant Science* 56(4), 307-314.
- Ulén, B., Alex, G., Kreuger, J., Svanbäck, A. & Etana, A. (2012). Particulatefacilitated leaching of glyphosate and phosphorus from a marine clay soil via tile drains. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B - Soil & Plant Science* 62(sup2), 241-251.
- Ulén, B., Aronsson, H., Bechmann, M., Krogstad, T., Oygarden, L. & Stenberg, M. (2010). Soil tillage methods to control phosphorus loss and potential sideeffects: a Scandinavian review. *Soil Use and Management* 26(2), 94-107.

- Ulén, B., Bechmann, M., Fölster, J., Jarvie, H.P. & Tunney, H. (2007). Agriculture as a phosphorus source for eutrophication in the north-west European countries, Norway, Sweden, United Kingdom and Ireland: a review. *Soil* Use and Management 23, 5-15.
- Ulén, B. & Jakobsson, C. (2005). Critical evaluation of measures to mitigate phosphorus losses from agricultural land to surface waters in Sweden. *Science of the Total Environment* 344(1-3), 37-50.
- Ulén, B. & Persson, K. (1999). Field-scale phosphorus losses from a drained clay soil in Sweden. *Hydrological Processes* 13(17), 2801-2812.
- Ulén, B.M., Larsbo, M., Kreuger, J.K. & Svanbäck, A. (2014). Spatial variation in herbicide leaching from a marine clay soil via subsurface drains. *Pest Management Science* 70(3), 405-414.
- Uusi-Kämppä, J., Braskerud, B., Jansson, H., Syversen, N. & Uusitalo, R. (2000). Buffer zones and constructed wetlands as filters for agricultural phosphorus. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29(1), 151-158.
- Uusi-Kämppä, J. & Heinonen-Tanski, H. (2008). Evaluating Slurry Broadcasting and Injection to Ley for Phosphorus Losses and Fecal Microorganisms in Surface Runoff. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 37(6), 2339-2350.
- Uusitalo, R., Turtola, E. & Lemola, R. (2007). Phosphorus losses from a subdrained clayey soil as affected by cultivation practices. *Agricultural and Food Science* 16(4), 352-365.
- van der Eijk, D., Janssen, B.H. & Oenema, O. (2006). Initial and residual effects of fertilizer phosphorus on soil phosphorus and maize yields on phosphorus fixing soils - A case study in south-west Kenya. *Agriculture Ecosystems* & *Environment* 116(1-2), 104-120.
- Van der Salm, C., Chardon, W.J. & Koopmans, G.F. (2007). Mining soil phosphorus by zero P application: an effective method to reduce the risk of P loading to surface water. In: *Diffuse phosphorus loss: risk* assessment, mitigation options and ecological effects in river basins. The 5th International Phosphorus Workshop. pp. 119-121. ISBN 87-91949-20-3.
- van der Salm, C., Chardon, W.J., Koopmans, G.F., van Middelkoop, J.C. & Ehlert, P.A.I. (2009). Phytoextraction of Phosphorus-Enriched Grassland Soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 38(2), 751-761.
- van Es, H.M., Schindelbeck, R.R. & Jokela, W.E. (2004). Effect of manure application timing, crop, and soil type on phosphorus leaching. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 33(3), 1070-1080.
- Vanderborght, J., Gahwiller, P. & Fluhler, H. (2002). Identification of transport processes in soil cores using fluorescent tracers. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 66(3), 774-787.
- Weber, J.B. & Whitacre, D.M. (1982). Mobility of Herbicides in Soil Columns under Saturated- and Unsaturated-Flow Conditions. *Weed Science* 30(6), 579-584.
- Wesström, I. (2002). Controlled drainage: effects on subsurface runoff and nitrogen flows. Doctoral thesis. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae. Agraria, 350

- Wildenschild, D., Jensen, K.H., Villholth, K. & Illangasekare, T.H. (1994). A laboratory analysis of the effect of macropores on solute transport. *Ground Water* 32(3), 381-389.
- Withers, P.J.A., Clay, S.D. & Breeze, V.G. (2001). Phosphorus transfer in runoff following application of fertilizer, manure, and sewage sludge. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30(1), 180-188.
- Withers, P.J.A., Nash, D.M. & Laboski, C.A.M. (2005). Environmental management of phosphorus fertilizers. Madison,: American Society of Agronomy. (Phosphorus: agriculture and the environment. ISBN 0-89118-157-1.
- Withers, P.J.A., Ulén, B., Stamm, C. & Bechmann, M. (2003). Incidental phosphorus losses – are they significant and can they be predicted? *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 166(4), 459-468.
- Wolf, A., Sharpley, A.N., Ressler, L., Esser, T. & Lanyon, L.E. (2000). Concerns and recommendations of the workgroups. In: Sharpley, A.N. (Ed.) *Agriculture and phosphorus management The Chesapeake Bay*. pp. 187-197. Boca Raton, Florida: Lewis Publishers. ISBN 1-55670-494-4.
- Yli-Halla, M. & Mokma, D.L. (2002). Problems encountered when classifying the soils of Finland. Luxembourg. (Soil Classification; EUR 18991 EN).

Acknowledgements

Many people have helped me in different ways during my years as a PhD student and I am very grateful to all of you. In particular, I would like to thank:

- My main supervisor Barbro, for giving me the opportunity to work in this field of research. I see you as someone with great knowledge in this field and as a devoted researcher. I have received almost immediate comments on my work, and you always help out whenever I ask.
- My supervisor Lars, for good advice about all kinds of things in the world of research, good research discussions, uplifting comments and support during ups and downs.
- My supervisor Peter Kleinman, for very helpful input while writing the manuscripts and friendly approach when we have met in Uppsala and in the US.
- Helena Aronsson, for friendly support, helpful advice and numerous nice discussions.
- Ararso, for your generous help in the field and with the rainfall simulations. I appreciate your optimistic approach and friendly advice on how to conduct research.
- All fellow PhD students, for all the friendly chats, god discussions and great laughs. Pia and Helena, our talks about life as a PhD student and life in general means a lot to me. Ana, I really enjoy talking with you about different aspects of research, and other things. Maria and Matt, our discussions and silly chats always get me in a better mood.
- Anki, for helping me out with the lysimeters in such a great way.
- Ing-Marie, for patiently and kindly helping me with my 'reseräkningar' and other things.
- Stefan, Annelie and Linnea for analyzing all the water samples.

- Present and former colleagues in the bgf-vv group, for the friendly atmosphere, nice chats during coffee breaks and uplifting comments.
- My parents, for always believing in me and supporting me, giving me the courage to explore all kinds of different adventures. My brother, I grew up trying to do everything you did and I always feel a strong connection with you.
- The extended Lindvall and Svanbäck family, for all the great dinners and helping hands.
- Richard, Leo and Maja you are the center of my universe. Richard, thank you for always supporting me and standing by me during tough times and good times. Leo and Maja, thank you for being you and adding a new dimension in my life.